# TOLERABLE AMOUNT OF GLUTEN FOR PEOPLE WITH COELIAC DISEASE

# A systematic review conducted on behalf of the Food Standards Agency (Project T07048)

December 2006

Anthony K Akobeng and Adrian G Thomas

Booth Hall Children's Hospital, Central Manchester and Manchester Children's University Hospitals NHS Trust, Manchester, UK.

# CONTENTS

1.	Executive Summary	3
2.	Introduction	5
3.	Research Questions and Aims of the Study	8
4.	Study Design	9
5.	Methods of the Review	12
6.	Description of Studies	14
7.	Results	22
8.	Discussion	26
9.	Summary of Findings	29
10.	Conclusions and Recommendations	30
11.	Acknowledgements	31
	References	32
	Table 1	36

#### 1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Although avoidance of gluten is necessary for people with coeliac disease (CD), the exact relationship between the quantity of gluten ingested and the development of symptoms and/or mucosal abnormalities is not clearly defined. The aim of this study was to evaluate articles that had investigated threshold amounts of gluten in the diet which people with CD can tolerate, or threshold concentrations of gluten in food products that can safely be consumed by people with CD. We performed a systematic review of studies published between 1966 and March 2006 that had examined the relationship between the amount of gluten ingested or the concentrations of gluten in food products, and the development of symptoms or mucosal abnormalities. Our data sources included Medline, Embase, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials, Cinahl, and reference lists of retrieved articles.

Twelve studies met the review criteria. A daily consumption of 200 mg or more of gluten clearly induced mucosal abnormalities. In two studies, the ingestion of an average of 34 - 36 mg of gluten daily did not cause histological changes or clinical symptoms. However, in one study, a much smaller dose of gluten (1.5 mg daily) triggered symptoms but it was not clear whether the symptoms were associated with mucosal abnormalities. The effect of the consumption of 'gluten-free' products with different degrees of gluten contamination was also inconsistent between studies. Whilst some people tolerated current Codex standard 'gluten-free' products (less than 200 ppm gluten), others developed histological abnormalities whilst consuming the same products. It is likely that it is the total amount of gluten ingested over time rather than the concentration of gluten in the food products that is important.

The current Codex standard of 200 ppm is not sufficiently protective for all people with CD and so there may be a case for lowering the current concentration of gluten permitted in 'gluten-free' food products. We, however, found insufficient evidence to allow us to propose a definitive clinical threshold dose of gluten or a threshold concentration of gluten in food products that would be tolerated by all people with CD. It appears that the amount of tolerable gluten varies among people with CD but the reason for this is unclear.

Future studies should be randomised controlled trials and should address the following points:

- 1. the exact amount of gluten that can be tolerated by people with CD and over what period of time.
- 2. the exact concentration of gluten in wheat-starch 'gluten-free' products and all other foods that can be tolerated by people with CD
- 3. the potential reasons (e.g. genetic variability) that may explain the variable response to gluten.

#### 2. INTRODUCTION

Coeliac disease (CD), also known as gluten-sensitive enteropathy, is defined as a permanent intolerance to gluten, a protein found in cereals such as wheat, rye and barley, associated with mucosal disease of the proximal small bowel (Ferenci 1998). The disorder is characterised by intestinal malabsorption, histologic abnormalities of the small bowel mucosa, clinical and histologic improvement on a gluten-free diet, and a relapse on a gluten-containing diet.

CD is a multifactorial disorder that depends on genetic, immunological and environmental factors. The true prevalence of CD is difficult to ascertain as many affected people are asymptomatic. The prevalence of the disease is estimated to vary between 1/100 to 1/500 in different continents (Schapira et al, 2003). The seroprevalence of CD in the general population of English adults (West et al, 2003) and English children (Bingley et al, 2004) have both been reported to be about 1%.

In infants and young children, CD classically manifests as diarrhoea, steatorrhoea, failure to thrive and abdominal distension that occurs a few weeks to months after the introduction of gluten into the diet, usually between the ages of 6 months and 3 years. Vomiting, irritability, anorexia and constipation are also common. Some patients have more subtle symptoms such as oedema, anaemia, growth retardation and recurrent dental caries (Devlin et al, 2004). In older children and adults, diarrhoea and other gastrointestinal symptoms are less prominent. In older children, short stature, retarded puberty, iron deficiency anaemia and personality problems may predominate. Adult patients often have symptoms of irritable bowel syndrome (Devlin et al, 2004) and may also present with recurrent aphthous stomatitis, iron deficiency without obvious cause, osteoporosis or osteopenia, and short stature. Other non-intestinal manifestations of CD include dermatitis herpetiformis and hepatitis. Certain malignant diseases are also more frequent in patients with CD. These include small bowel adenocarcinoma, oesophageal and oropharyngeal squamous carcinoma, and non-Hodgkins lymphoma (Green and Jabri, 2003).

5

Lifelong avoidance of gluten ingestion is the cornerstone treatment for CD (Fasano and Catassi, 2001). This involves a diet free of wheat, rye and barley. There is controversy regarding the safety of oats for people with CD. In a recent systematic review, Haboubi et al found that although oats can be symptomatically tolerated by most people with CD, the long term effects of a diet containing oats remain unclear (Haboubi et al, 2006). Treatment of CD is important not only to improve the immediate quality of life of the patient but also to decrease the long-term risks of untreated CD such as growth failure in children, osteopenia and malignancies.

Whilst it is generally accepted that avoidance of gluten is necessary for people with CD, the relationship between the quantity of gluten ingested and the development of symptoms and histological abnormalities is not clearly defined (Collin et al, 2004) and the exact amount of gluten that people with CD can tolerate on a daily basis without suffering any deleterious effects has not been established. Total avoidance is also extremely difficult, if not impossible to achieve as gluten contamination in 'gluten-free' products cannot be avoided completely (Hischenhuber et al, 2006; Collin et al, 2004). Thus in CD, it is generally accepted that the term 'gluten-free' refers to a level of gluten that is supposed to be harmless, when ingested indefinitely, rather than to total absence of gluten.

Considerable controversy exists among authorities as to what constitutes a 'gluten-free diet'. In 1981, the WHO/FAO organization that sets International Standards for foods, Codex Alimentarius, suggested that foods labeled as 'gluten-free' should contain less than 0.05 g nitrogen per 100 g of food products on a dry matter basis (Codex-Alimentarius- Commission, 1981). At the time this standard was set, methods for directly measuring the gluten content of grain were not available; therefore the nitrogen content of food was used as an indirect measure. It has since been approximated that wheat starch-based 'gluten-free' products meeting the 1981 Codex standard may contain up to 40-60 mg of gluten per 100 g or 400-600 ppm {mg per kilogram} (Thompson 2001; Peraaho et al, 2003; Kaukinen et al, 1999). This amount of gluten is equivalent to 200 to 300 ppm gliadin {mg per kilogram} (Thompson, 2001)

6

In 1998, a draft revised standard for Codex gluten-free foods was proposed (Codex-Alimentarius- Commission, 1998). In the revised standard, it was suggested that naturally 'gluten-free' foods (i.e. food consisting of or made only from ingredients which do not contain any prolamins from wheat or all Triticum species such as spelt, kamut or durum wheat, rye, barley, [oats] or their crossbred varieties) should not contain more than 20 ppm of gluten but that foods consisting of ingredients from wheat, rye, barley, oats, spelt or their crossbred varieties, which have been rendered 'gluten-free' should not contain more than 200 ppm gluten. 'Oats' was put in brackets because the committee could not decide whether it was toxic to people with CD. Although the revised Codex standard of not more than 200 ppm gluten in wheat starch-based glutenfree products has been adopted in a number of countries including the UK and some European countries, it is not universally accepted. In some countries such as the USA, food made from wheat starch is not recommended, and a naturally gluten-free diet is prescribed (Ciclitira 2005). These different practices reflect the fact that the exact amount of gluten that can be tolerated long term without harmful effects by patients with CD is unclear.

In the current study, we aimed to systematically evaluate the current published evidence on the potential threshold amount of gluten which people with CD can tolerate, and to explore the evidence base of the Codex threshold level of gluten in 'gluten-free' products that will be tolerated by people with CD.

# 3. RESEARCH QUESTIONS AND AIMS OF THE STUDY

# **3.1 Research Questions**

- 1. Is there a threshold amount of gluten in the diet that can be tolerated by people with CD?
- 2. For 'gluten-free' labelling purposes, is there a threshold concentration of gluten in food that will be tolerable for people with CD?

# **3.2** Aims

To systematically evaluate studies in any language, published or unpublished, which had investigated:

a) Threshold amount of gluten in the diet that people with CD can tolerate, and/or

b) Threshold concentration of gluten in food that can safely be consumed by people with CD.

# 4. STUDY DESIGN AND INCLUSION CRITERIA

The study design was a systematic review of studies that had investigated threshold amounts of gluten in the diet which people with CD can tolerate, or threshold concentrations of gluten in food products that can safely be consumed by people with CD.

### 4.1 Types of studies

We aimed to include studies that meet the following criteria:

- a. Randomised controlled trials (RCT)
- b. Cohort studies
- c. Case-control retrospective studies
- d. Cross-sectional studies
- e. Longitudinal surveys
- f. Case series

#### 4.1.1 Types of participants

Patients diagnosed as having CD based on histological criteria regardless of age, sex or duration of the disease.

# 4.1.2 Types of intervention

Studies which had investigated a threshold level of gluten in people with CD.

#### 4.2 Outcome measures

The primary outcome was small intestinal histology. Secondary outcome measures were clinical symptoms such as abdominal pain, diarrhoea, tiredness, and quality of life.

# 4.3 Search strategy for identification of studies

A. Electronic searching

The following electronic databases were searched for relevant studies:

- 1. Medline (1966- May 2006)
- 2. EMBASE (1974 May 2006)
- 3. The Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) Issue 2, 2006

### 4. CINAHL (1982 – May 2006)

The search strategy was not limited by language.

MEDLINE on PUBMED was searched using the following search strategy:

- 1. Coeliac disease OR celiac disease
- 2. celiac disease (MeSH)
- 3. Sprue
- 4. gluten enteropathy
- 5. gluten sensitive enteropathy
- 6. gluten intolerance
- 7. gluten allergy
- 8. gluten hypersensitivity
- 9. 1 OR 2 OR 3 OR 4 OR 5 OR 6 OR 7 OR 8
- 10. gluten
- 11. gluten (MeSH)
- 12. gliadin\*
- 13. gliadin (MeSH)
- 14. wheat
- 15. 10 OR 11 OR 12 OR 13 OR 14
- 16. threshold
- 17. safe
- 18. tolerable
- 19. tolerance
- 20. 16 OR 17 OR 18 OR 19
- 21. level\*
- 22. concentration\*
- 23. amount\*
- 24. 21 OR 22 OR 23
- 25. 9 AND 15 AND 20 AND 24

The above search strategy was adapted and used to search the other databases.

# B. Reference searching

The references of all identified studies were inspected for more trials.

# C. Personal contacts

Leaders in the field were contacted to try and identify other studies. The final list of included studies was also sent to leaders in the field to ensure that no relevant study was missed.

# D. Manufacturers of gluten-free products

Manufacturers of UK gluten-free products were contacted for additional information.

# 5. METHODS OF THE REVIEW

# 5.1 Searching

Using the search strategy described above, papers that appeared to be potentially relevant were identified by two reviewers (AKA and AGT). The abstracts of identified studies were reviewed and full manuscripts obtained for those that appeared potentially relevant.

#### 5.2 Assessment of study eligibility

The reviewers, after reading the full texts, independently assessed the eligibility of all trials identified using an eligibility criteria based on the inclusion criteria above. Disagreement among reviewers was discussed and agreement reached by consensus.

#### 5.3 Assessment of methodological quality

The methodological quality of included studies was independently assessed by two reviewers. For randomized controlled trials and cohort studies, we used checklists recommended by the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (http://www.sign.ac.uk/guidelines/fulltext/50/annexc.html).

# 5.4 Data extraction

A data extraction form was developed and used to extract information on relevant features and results of included studies. Two reviewers (AKA and AGT) separately extracted and recorded data on the predefined checklist. Extracted data included the following items:

- 1. Trial quality characteristics.
- 2. Participants: number of subjects at baseline, gender, mean age.
- 3. Interventions: threshold gluten level.
- 4. Outcome data.
- 5. Potential confounding factors

#### 5.5 Levels of evidence

The level of evidence of the main findings was determined using the published Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) criteria (Harbour and Miller, 2001).

Levels of evidence

1++ High quality meta-analyses, systematic reviews of RCTs, or RCTs with a very low risk of bias

*1*+ Well conducted meta-analyses, systematic reviews of RCTs, or RCTs with a low risk of bias

1 – Meta-analyses, systematic reviews or RCTs, or RCTs with a high risk of bias

2++ High quality systematic reviews of case-control or cohort studies *or* High quality case-control or cohort studies with a very low risk of confounding, bias, or chance and a high probability that the relationship is causal

2+ Well conducted case-control or cohort studies with a low risk of confounding, bias, or chance and a moderate probability that the relationship is causal

2- Case-control or cohort studies with a high risk of confounding, bias, or chance and a significant risk that the relationship is not causal

3 Non-analytic studies, e.g. case reports, case series

4 Expert opinion

The definitions of +, ++ or - are as shown below:

++ All or most of the criteria have been fulfilled. Where they have not been fulfilled the conclusions of the study or review are thought <u>very unlikely</u> to alter.

+ Some of the criteria have been fulfilled. Those criteria that have not been fulfilled or not adequately described are thought <u>unlikely</u> to alter the conclusions.

 Few or no criteria fulfilled. The conclusions of the study are thought <u>likely or very</u> <u>likely</u> to alter.

#### 6. DESCRIPTION OF STUDIES

Based on a review of the title and/or abstract of the paper, a total of 34 studies were initially identified as being potentially eligible for inclusion. After reviewing the full manuscripts, 22 of these studies were excluded (see below). Twelve studies met the inclusion criteria and were included in the review. Two of these were randomised controlled trials {RCTs} (Catassi et al, 1993 and Peraaho et al, 2003), one was a cohort study (Chartrand et al, 1997), two were crossover studies (Ciclitira et al, 1984; Ciclitira et al, 1985) and the remaining 7 were cross-sectional studies (Dissanayake et al 1974; Baker et al 1975; Montgomery et al, 1988; Kaukinen et al 1999; Selby et al 1999; Lohiniemi et al 2000; Collin et al 2004).

#### 6.1 Excluded studies

Ten papers (Auricchio and Troncone, 1991; Ciclitira et al, 2005a, Ciclitira et al, 2005b, Ferguson et al, 1996; Ferguson et al, 1998; Hischenhuber et al, 2006; Pena and Crusius, 1998, Stern et al, 2001; Thompson, 2001 and Thompson, 2003) were excluded because they were review articles. One study (Anderson et al, 2005) assessed the T cell response in peripheral blood after a 3 day gluten challenge. Two studies (Ciclitira et al, 1984; Dewar et al, 2006) were excluded because they did not assess the amount of tolerable gluten in the diet but assessed the effect of intra-duodenal infusions of gliadin. One study (Ellis et al, 1998) described the development of an assay to measure gluten in food. Another study (Holm et al, 2006) assessed the effect of oats on small intestinal morphology. One study (Howdle et al, 1984) assessed the in vitro response of jejunal biopsies to 24 hour culture with gliadin or alpha-gliadin. Another study (Johnson et al, 1990) measured antibody responses to wheat and maize grain protein fractions in mice. A further study (van Overbeek et al, 1997) measured gluten intake in relatives of patients with CD. One study (Picarelli et al, 1996) assessed the sensitivity and specificity of antigliadin antibodies in adult CD. One study (Restani et al, 2002) measured the antigenicity of gluten-treated wine. Another study (Vader et al, 2002) measured the T cell response to gliadin and glutenin peptides and the final excluded study (Valdes et al, 2003) described the development of an ELISA test to quantify low levels of wheat, barley and rye prolamins in foods for people with CD.

#### 6.2 Brief summary of included studies

A summary of the characteristics of the included studies is shown in Table 1. The included studies fell into two main groups: 1) those which investigated a threshold amount of ingested gluten, and 2) those which investigated a threshold concentration of gluten in food.

#### 6.2.1 Threshold amount of ingested gluten

#### Dissanayake et al 1974

This cross-sectional study from England assessed jejunal mucosal recovery in CD in relation to the degree of adherence to a 'gluten-free' diet. 38 adult patients with CD were reassessed after a mean of 27.5 (range 6-72) months on a gluten-free diet. Diagnosis of CD was based on symptoms and small intestinal histology. They were classified into 3 groups depending on their gluten intake and jejunal morphometry.

### Baker et al 1975

This cross-sectional study, conducted in England, assessed the incidence and effects of continuing gluten ingestion in 51 adults with CD after a mean 63 (range 4-132) months on a gluten-free diet. Diagnosis of CD was based on jejunal biopsy appearances. Outcome was assessed by prospective dietary questionnaire, jejunal morphometry and gluten antibody estimation.

# Ciclitira et al 1984

This cross-over study, conducted in England, evaluated a gluten-free product containing wheat gliadin in 7 adults with CD after more than 12 months on a gluten-free diet. They all then followed a gluten-free diet with no commercial gluten-free products for 1 week then followed the same diet plus 6 slices of Juvela gluten-free bread for 1 week. The daily intake of gliadin from the bread was between 1.2 and 2.4 g per day. The diagnosis of CD was confirmed histologically. Outcome was assessed by jejunal morphometry in biopsies taken at the end of each one week period.

#### Ciclitira et al 1985

The aim of this cross-over study, conducted in England, was to investigate symptoms and enterotoxicity of gliadin-containing gluten-free bread made with wheat starch in 10 adults with CD who had clinically improved on a gluten-free diet for at least a year. They were given 6 slices of gliadin-containing Juvela gluten-free bread for one 6 week period and no gluten-free bread during the other 6 week period. It was not stated in the paper how CD was diagnosed, but on contacting the corresponding author, he confirmed that diagnosis was based on histological criteria. Outcome was assessed by symptom diary, 24 hr <sup>51</sup>Cr-EDTA excretion and jejunal morphometry.

#### Montgomery et al 1988

This English cross-sectional study aimed to determine the effects of a low gluten containing diet on jejunal morphology & gluten antibody levels in adults with CD. The diagnosis of CD was based on a characteristic histological appearance and improvement on a gluten-free diet. Patients studied were either on a low gluten-containing diet (n=13) and consuming 2.5-5 g per day for 3-14 months (median 6 months) or a strict gluten-free diet (n=12) for 6-27 months (median 13 months). The amount of gluten in the 'strict gluten-free diet' was not measured.

### Catassi et al 1993

This was a randomised controlled trial from Italy. The authors investigated the effects of chronic ingestion of specified amounts of gliadin on children with CD. Twenty children with CD who had been on a 'gluten-free' diet for a mean of 14 months were randomised to receive either 100mg (Group A, n=10, mean (SD) age 4 (2) years) or 500mg (Group B, mean age 5 (3) years) per day of gliadin for 4 weeks. Diagnosis of CD was based on subtotal villous atrophy on initial biopsy and subsequent improvement on a gluten-free diet. Effects of gliadin were monitored by jejunal morphometry, intestinal permeability (cellobiose/mannitol) & antigliadin antibody.

#### Chartrand et al 1997

This Canadian cohort study evaluated the tolerance of prolonged consumption of small amounts of gliadin contained in products containing wheat starch. The study was an open 1-year trial of the addition of wheat starch to a gluten free diet in 17 adults with CD who had never consumed wheat starch. Diagnosis of CD was according to ESPGAN criteria (European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 1990). The control group consisted of 14 patients with CD who tolerated wheat starch. Outcome measures included symptoms, antigliadin and endomysial antibodies.

#### Kaukinen et al 1999

This was a cross-sectional study conducted in Finland. The authors investigated whether wheat starch-based gluten-free products are safe in the treatment of gluten intolerance. Forty one children and adults with CD and 11 adults with dermatitis herpetiformis who had been on a gluten-free diet for a mean of 8 years were studied. 35 newly diagnosed patients with CD at the time of diagnosis and 6-24 months after starting a gluten-free diet, and 27 non-coeliac patients with dyspepsia were investigated for comparison. Diagnosis of CD was according to ESPGAN criteria. Forty out of 52 patients were on strict wheat starch-based gluten-free diet and their mean daily intake of gluten was 34 mg (range, 5-150 mg). 6 patients were on a strict naturally gluten-free diet and another 6 patients were on the wheat starch-based gluten-free diet but also consumed about 1-2 g of gluten every week or at least once per month. Small intestinal mucosal morphometry, mucosal HLA-DR expression, endomysial, reticulin and gliadin antibodies were assessed.

#### Lohiniemi et al 2000

The aim of this cross-sectional study from Finland was to establish whether a wheat starch-based gluten-free diet has an untoward effect in terms of gastrointestinal symptoms and general well-being in people with CD. The diagnosis of CD was based on typical small bowel biopsy appearances. The Gastrointestinal Symptom Rating Scale was applied to 58 adults on gluten-free diets and 110 non-coeliac controls, 23 of the coeliac patients also had a small bowel biopsy. Fifty patients with CD were on strict wheat starch-based gluten-free diets, 3 had occasional lapses. The mean daily estimated gluten intake from wheat starch was 36mg (range 0-180).

#### Collin et al 2004

The purpose of this Finnish cross-sectional study was to estimate the safe threshold for gluten contamination in gluten-free products used in the treatment of CD. The gluten content of 59 naturally gluten-free and 24 wheat starch-based gluten-free products were analysed. The daily intake of flours was estimated in 76 adults and 16 children with CD on a strict gluten-free diet for 1-10 years (median 2 years) and the intake compared with mucosal histology and endomysial antibodies. 13 of 59 of the naturally gluten-free products and 11 of 24 of the wheat starch based gluten-free products contained gluten from 20 to 200 ppm. Median daily flour consumption in adults was 80g (range 10-300). It was not stated in the paper how CD was diagnosed, but on contacting the corresponding author, he confirmed that diagnosis was based on histological criteria.

# 6.2.2 Threshold concentration of gluten in food

#### Selby et al 1999

The aim of this Australian cross-sectional study was to determine whether persistent villous atrophy in people treated for CD could be due to trace amounts of gluten in "gluten-free" foods. Duodenal biopsy appearances of 89 adults with longstanding CD (duration 0.6 to 29.2 years) were correlated with their form of gluten-free diet. In 78 people, the diagnosis of CD had been confirmed by follow-up biopsy on a gluten-free diet, in the other 11 the study biopsy was used as the second biopsy. Patients were assigned to either Codex-gluten-free diet or non-detectable gluten gluten-free diet.

#### Peraaho et al 2003

This randomised controlled trial, conducted in Finland, compared the effects of a wheat starch-based and a natural gluten-free diet in adults with newly diagnosed CD. Fifty seven adults with untreated CD were randomised to a wheat starch-based or natural gluten-free diet. The diagnosis of CD was based on small intestinal histological changes. After one year, the effects of the 2 diets were monitored by clinical response, duodenal morphometry, mucosal human leucocyte antigen-DR expression, endomysial, transglutaminase and gliadin antibodies.

#### 6.3 Methodological quality of included studies

Twelve papers were identified that fulfilled the inclusion criteria. These included two randomised controlled trials (RCTs) (Catassi et al, 1993 and Peraaho et al, 2003), one cohort study (Chartrand 1997), two crossover studies (Ciclitira et al, 1984; Ciclitira et al, 1985) and 7 cross-sectional studies (Baker et al, 1975; Collin et al, 2004; Dissanayake et al, 1974; Kaukinen et al, 1999; Lohiniemi et al, 2000; Montgomery et al. 1988; and Selby et al, 1999). All of the included studies addressed an appropriate and clearly focussed question but none of the studies reported a power calculation to determine how many patients would be required to detect significant effects of gluten exposure.

In one RCT (Catassi et al, 1993), the authors stated that the patients were randomly assigned to each group but they gave no further details about the method of randomisation, allocation concealment or blinding. Twelve patients were excluded before randomisation because of poor dietary compliance or did not consent to the protocol. The groups were similar with respect to age but not gender (there were 8 females in group A and 4 in group B). The patients were given a 4-week microchallenge of gliadin (100 or 500 mg) but the rest of their diet does not appear to have been assessed to see whether it contained any additional gluten. There was no difference in the initial morphometric parameters between the 2 groups. All 20 recruited patients completed the study protocol. We judged that there was a low risk of bias in this study.

The method of randomisation was satisfactory in the RCT by Peraaho et al 2003 but it is unclear whether there was adequate allocation concealment. It is stated that all specimens were evaluated by the same investigator who had no previous knowledge of the disease history or laboratory findings. The patients were presumably aware of which diet they were receiving. Eight patients refused to participate in the study. The groups were similar with respect to age, gender, symptoms and initial morphometric parameters. Only 23/29 patients in group I and 26/28 in group II completed the study with a proper diet. We judged that there was a low risk of bias in this study.

In the cohort study by Chartrand et al 1997 it is not stated whether the investigators were blind to the exposure status of the patients. Wheat starch was added to the gluten-free diet of adults with CD. The control group consisted of patients with CD who tolerated wheat starch. The choice of control group appears inappropriate in a study whose aim is to investigate the effects of consumption of small amounts of gliadin contained in wheat starch, and could have introduced bias into the study. The rest of the diet of both groups does not appear to have been assessed to see whether it contained any additional gluten. There was a higher proportion of children in the control group (6 of 14) compared to the experimental group (2 of 17) and a higher proportion of females in the experimental group (12 of 17) compared to the control group (8 of 14). Although the trial was initially intended to continue for 12 months it was stopped after 10 months because only 2 of the 17 patients remained asymptomatic and wished to continue consuming the wheat starch product. We judged that there was a high risk of bias in this study.

In the cross-over study by Ciclitira et al 1984, patients were required to consume known quantities of gliadin containing wheat-starch based gluten-free diet but the rest of their diet does not appear to have been assessed to see whether it contained any additional gluten. The study by Ciclitra et al 1985 was also a crossover study. Patients were given a wheat-starch based gluten-free bread during one 6 week period and no gluten-free bread during the other 6 week period but the rest of their diet does not appear to have been assessed to see whether it contained any additional gluten. It was not stated whether the order of the two 6 week periods was randomised or whether the investigator was blind to exposure status of the patients during each period. It was also not stated in the paper how CD was diagnosed, but on contacting the corresponding author, he confirmed that diagnosis was based on histological criteria.

The remaining 7 studies were all cross sectional. Only in the studies by Dissanayake et al 1974, Ciclitira et al, 1984; Kaukinen et al 1999; and Collin et al 2004 was it stated that the investigators were blind to the exposure status of the patients. The amount of gluten in the gluten-free diet was not measured in the study by Montgomery et al, 1988 and in the study by Dissanayake et al 1974, it is not stated what is meant by "small amounts of gluten in the diet. It was not stated in the article by Collin et al 2004 how CD was

diagnosed, but on contacting the corresponding author, he confirmed that diagnosis was based on histological criteria.

# 7. RESULTS

We included 12 studies that examined the effect of persistent intake of small amounts of gluten or gliadin in patients with CD. Ten of the studies investigated the effect of the ingestion of a specified amount of gluten/gliadin over a specified period of time. The other two studies investigated what happens when people with CD ingested products with a specified concentration of gluten. The amount of gluten ingested, the length of exposure to gluten, and the assessment of the effect of gluten were not consistent between studies. We, therefore, considered it inappropriate to statistically combine the data of the studies. The results of the individual studies are described below.

#### 7.1 Studies assessing the safe threshold amount of ingested gluten

#### Dissanayake et al 1974

No histological abnormalities or minor changes were observed in 16 of 18 patients on strict gluten-free diet (gluten content of diet not assessed), 4 of 13 patients receiving small amounts of gluten and none of 7 receiving large amounts of gluten. However the authors did not specify what is meant by 'small' and 'large' amounts of gluten.

#### Baker et al 1975

Of those patients found (by a 4-week dietary questionnaire) to be adhering to a strict gluten-free diet (n=18) 3 had positive gluten antibodies and 13 had villous atrophy. Of those consuming <2g/day gluten (n=24) 10 had positive gluten antibodies, and 16 had villous atrophy. Of those consuming >2g/day gluten (n=9) all 9 had positive gluten antibodies and villous atrophy. Gluten content of the 'gluten-free' diet was not measured.

### Ciclitira et al 1984

At the end of the one week period, people receiving Juvela 'gluten-free' bread (containing 1.2 to 2.4 mg gliadin/day) exhibited significant reduction in the mean villous height/crypt depth ratio but other measures of jejunal morphometry were not significantly different.

#### Ciclitira et al 1985

There was no significant difference in jejunal morphometry in the period of consumption of between 1.2 mg and 2.4 mg of gluten from bread and the period where this product was not ingested. Four patients reported diarrhoea associated with the ingestion of the bread.

# Montgomery et al 1988

Some histological abnormalities were found both in patients on a low gluten diet defined as consuming 2.5-5 g gluten per day for 3-14 months (median 6) and those on a strict gluten-free diet for 6-27 months (median 13 months) but there was no statistical difference between the two groups. There was also no significant difference in antigluten IgA,G & M. There was a significant increase in intra epithelial lymphocytes in patients on a low gluten diet compared to those on gluten-free diet and control patients.

#### Catassi et al 1993

After 4 weeks no clinical abnormalities were reported in Group A (100mg gliadin) but 3 patients in Group B (500mg gliadin) had anorexia and loose stools. After the challenge there was a significant reduction in the villous height/crypt depth ratio in both groups and this was more marked in Group B. Intra-epithelial lymphocytes were also significantly increased in both groups. The villous height was significantly reduced and the crypt depth significantly increased in Group B but not Group A.

#### Chartrand et al 1997

Fifteen of 17 subjects who had not previously received wheat-starch based products developed symptoms within 8 months of consuming 0.75 mg gliadin per day (equivalent to 1.5 mg gluten) from wheat starch-based gluten-free products. The symptoms resolved within weeks of discontinuing the product. The control group who had previously tolerated wheat starch-based products remained well during the study period. No significant difference in the titres of IgA or IgG antigladin antibody were detected after consumption of wheat starch bread. Endomysial antibodies were uniformly negative in both groups. Mucosal histology was not assessed.

#### Kaukinen et al 1999

Forty of 52 patients adhered to a strict wheat starch-based gluten-free diet (mean daily intake of gluten from this 34 mg; range 5-150 mg) and 6 to a strict naturally gluten-free diet. In these 46 patients, the mucosal morphometry was similar to that of non-coeliacs and better than in short-term treated people with CD. Two of six patients who had dietary lapses (ingesting 1-2 g gluten every week or at least once a month in addition to the wheat starch-based gluten-free diet) developed villous atrophy.

# Lohiniemi et al 2000

Fifty adults with CD were on strict wheat starch-based gluten-free diets and 3 had occasional lapses. The mean daily estimated gluten intake from wheat starch was 36 mg (range 0-180). The mean Gastrointestinal Symptom Rating Scale score in these patients did not differ from that in controls. The daily amount of wheat starch had no effect on Gastrointestinal Symptom Rating Scale score. Twenty one of 23 patients had normal villous architecture, 1 had partial and 1 had subtotal villous atrophy. It is unclear whether these were the patients who had the dietary lapses. The daily amount of gluten-free wheat starch consumed did not correlate with symptoms.

#### Collin et al 2004

Median daily flour consumption in adults was 80 g (range 10-300) and mean daily flour consumption in children was 60 g (range 20-140). One patient on the naturally gluten-free diet and one on a wheat starch-based gluten-free diet were positive for endomysial antibodies after 1 year (titres 1:5 & 1:50). There was no correlation between the amount of flour ingested and intestinal mucosal morphometry. Mucosal recovery was generally good. All the 16 children had normal small bowel morphology.

# **7.2 Studies assessing the safe threshold limit of gluten concentration in food** Selby et al 1999

Eighteen of 39 of patients taking the Codex gluten-free diet (containing up to 0.03% protein derived from gluten containing grains) had villous atrophy, and 20 out of 50 of patients ingesting non-detectable gluten gluten-free diet (containing less than 0.003%

protein derived from gluten-containing grain) also had villous atrophy. The authors concluded that the persistent abnormalities could not be attributed to the consumption of Codex gluten-free products. The exact amount of gluten ingested by patients was not measured.

### Peraaho et al 2003

After 12 months, abdominal symptoms were alleviated equally in both the wheat starchbased and natural gluten-free diet groups and there was no significant difference in small intestinal morphology, intra-epithelial lymphocytes or coeliac antibodies (gliadin, endomysial, transglutaminase) between the groups. Gluten contamination in both diets was not assessed.

# 8. DISCUSSION

Whilst it is accepted that the treatment of CD is a gluten-free diet, there is a lot of controversy surrounding the definition of what a 'gluten-free' diet is. This confusion arises because of two main reasons: 1) it is extremely difficult to achieve a diet which is completely devoid of gluten, and 2) the exact amount of gluten that people with CD can tolerate without experiencing adverse effects is not clearly established. In this study, we systematically examined the available evidence on the threshold amount of ingested gluten that will be tolerable for people with CD, and also investigated the evidence base for a tolerable threshold concentration of gluten in foods.

# 8.1 Threshold amount of ingested gluten

We found that the consumption of about 200 mg or more of gluten per day is clearly associated with the development of intestinal mucosal abnormalities. Catassi et al demonstrated that the ingestion of 100 mg gliadin (200 mg gluten ) per day or more induced histological abnormalities after 4 weeks (Catassi, 1993). At least one earlier study had also demonstrated mucosal abnormalities with larger amounts of gluten (Baker et al, 1975).

Kaukinen et al showed that patients who consumed between 5-150 mg gluten daily (mean 34 mg) for about 8 years developed no histological abnormalities, but those who, in addition to this amount of gluten, also ingested between 1-2 g of gluten per week developed villous atrophy (Kaukinen et a, 1999). In another study, patients consuming an average of about 36 mg of gluten per day did not develop histological abnormalities or clinical symptoms (Lohiniemi et al). However, in one study, a much smaller dose of gluten (1.5 mg daily) triggered symptoms in some patients. Chartrand et al showed that some patients who had never been on wheat starch-based gluten-free products developed significant gastrointestinal symptoms within 8 months of taking a wheat starch-based 'gluten-free' product and consuming the equivalent of 1.5 mg gluten per day on top of their usual gluten-free diet, although other patients had remained well after taking the same product and consuming the same amount of gluten for about 6 years. The quality of this study was, however, poor.

It is not clear from the included studies whether very small amounts of gluten per day (say, less than 30 mg per day) induce histological abnormalities. The study by Chartrand et al showed that some patients may develop symptoms on much smaller amounts but unfortunately, histological changes were not assessed in either the patients who remained well or those who exhibited symptoms. Thus whilst it appears that some patients may tolerate an average of about 34 - 36 mg gluten per day, it is likely that some other patients may manifest symptoms with much smaller amounts. Whether these symptoms are related to mucosal changes is not clear.

The length of exposure to gluten varied considerably between the included studies. For instance, in the study by Kaukinen et al (Kaukinen et al, 1999), patients had been on their diet for a mean of 8 years, whilst in the study by Ciclitira et al (Ciclitira et al, 1984), patients were assessed after a one week gluten challenge. It is likely that the length of exposure would have an effect on outcomes.

#### 8.2 Threshold limit of gluten concentration in food

The evidence in this area is also unclear. Peraaho et al found that patients consuming either natural gluten-free diet or wheat starch-based gluten-free diet containing up to 40-60 mg per 100g of food (Codex standard) developed no symptoms or mucosal abnormalities. Selby et al, however, found persistent mucosal abnormalities in patients who were consuming either Codex gluten-free products or 'non-detectable gluten' gluten-free products (containing less than a tenth of the gluten content of the Codex products). It is not clear how the duration of being on Codex gluten-free products contributed to these contradictory findings. In the study by Peraaho et al, assessment was made after one year whilst in the study by Selby et al, patients appeared to have been on these products for the duration of their disease (0.6 to 29.2 years).

We can deduce from these primary studies that whilst many people with CD may remain well on consuming products with the Codex concentration of gluten, others may develop symptoms when they consume products with even lower concentrations of gluten. However, in both these studies, the actual amounts of gluten ingested by patients were not assessed. It is likely that what is most important is the total amount of gluten ingested rather than just the concentration of gluten in the food products as the amount of gluten ingested will depend on both the concentration and the volume of food products consumed.

Thus whilst the current Codex standard gluten-free products may be tolerable for some people with CD, they may not be so for others. There is an argument for any revised standard to be set at a lower concentration. However, we found no evidence in this study to suggest a single definitive threshold concentration of gluten in food products that would be tolerated by all people with CD. Collin and colleagues (Collin et al, 2004) argued that if the daily flour intake of patients with CD is assumed to be that found in their study (300 g or less), a threshold gluten concentration in flour of 100 ppm (100 mg/kg of flour), will mean that patients will not be consuming more than 30 mg gluten per day. As earlier discussed, some people with CD may tolerate this amount but others may manifest symptoms even at much lower doses of gluten.

### 9. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

- 1. In people with CD, a daily consumption of 200 mg or more of gluten clearly induced mucosal abnormalities. (Evidence level 1+)
- In some studies, the consumption of about 34 36 mg of gluten per day did not cause mucosal abnormalities (Evidence Level 3) or clinical symptoms (Evidence Level 3)
- 3. In another study, some patients who consumed much smaller amounts of daily gluten (1.5 mg daily) developed symptoms but it was not clear if these symptoms were associated with mucosal changes (Evidence Level 2–)
- 4. The effect of the consumption of gluten-free products with different degrees of gluten contamination was inconsistent between studies. Some people who consumed wheat starch-based gluten-free products with a gluten concentration of about 400 mg to 600 mg per kilogram food remained well with normal intestinal mucosa (Evidence Level 1+) but others who consumed similar products or even products with much lower concentrations of gluten developed histological changes (Evidence Level 3)

# **10. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS**

- 1. We found no evidence to allow us to propose a single threshold dose of gluten that would be tolerated by all people with CD.
- 2. The current Codex standard of 200 ppm is not sufficiently protective for all people with CD and so there may be a case for lowering the current concentration of gluten permitted in 'gluten-free' food products.
- 3. We, however, found no evidence to allow us to propose a single threshold concentration of gluten in food products that would be tolerable for all people with CD.
- 4. Whilst some people will tolerate the current Codex standard gluten-free products, others may develop histological abnormalities when they consume these products. It is likely that what is most important is the total amount of gluten ingested per unit time, i.e. per day rather than just the concentration of gluten in the food products as the amount of gluten ingested will depend on both the concentration and the volume of food products consumed.
- 5. Whilst it is clear that the amount of tolerable gluten varies among people with CD, the reason for this is unclear. Future studies should investigate potential reasons (e.g. genetic variability) that may explain the variable response to gluten.
- 6. Future studies should also assess the exact amount of gluten that can be tolerated by people with CD and over what period of time, and the exact concentration of gluten in wheat-starch 'gluten-free' products and all other foods that can be tolerated.
- 7. We also recommend that future studies in this area should be well designed randomised controlled trials, and should have adequate statistical power to detect any differences between groups.

# **11. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

This study was sponsored by the UK Food Standards Agency. The authors would like to acknowledge and thank all those who contributed to making this study a success. First and foremost, we would like to thank the United Kingdom Coeliac Society, and in particular Norma McGough for her support and assistance. We would also like to thank Dr William Dickey for his assistance. Finally we would like to express our appreciation to Professor Derek Jewell for peer-reviewing this manuscript.

#### REFERENCES

Anderson RP, van Heel DA, Tye-Din JA, Barnardo M, Salio M, Jewell DP, Hill AV. T cells in peripheral blood after gluten challenge in coeliac disease. *Gut* 2005;54:1217-23.

Auricchio S, Troncone R. Effects of small amounts of gluten in the diet of coeliac patients. *Panminerva Med* 1991;33:83-5.

Baker PG, Barry RE, Read AE. Detection of continuing gluten ingestion in treated coeliac patients. *BMJ* 1975;1:486-8.

Bingley PJ, Williams AJ, Norcross AJ, Unsworth DJ, Lock RJ, Ness AR, Jones RW; Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children Study Team. Undiagnosed coeliac disease at age seven: population based prospective birth cohort study. *BMJ* 2004;328:322-3

Catassi C, Rossini M, Ratsch IM, Bearzi I, Santinelli A, Castagnani R et al. Dose dependent effects of protracted ingestion of small amounts of gliadin in coeliac disease children: a clinical and jejunal morphometric study. *Gut* 1993;34:1515-9.

Chartrand LJ, Russo PA, Duhaime AG, Seidman EG. Wheat starch intolerance in patients with celiac disease. *J Am Diet Assoc* 1997;97:612-8.

Ciclitira PJ. Gluten-free diet - what is toxic? *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol* 2005;19:359-71.

Ciclitira PJ, Cerio R, Ellis HJ, Maxton D, Nelufer JM, Macartney JM. Evaluation of a gliadin-containing gluten-free product in coeliac patients. *Hum Nutr Clin Nutr* 1985;39:303-8.

Ciclitira PJ, Ellis HJ, Fagg NL. Evaluation of a gluten free product containing wheat gliadin in patients with coeliac disease. *BMJ* 1984;289:83.

Ciclitira PJ, Evans DJ, Fagg NLK, Lennox ES, Dowling RH. Clinical testing of gliadin fractions in coeliac patients. *Clin Sci* 1984;66:357-64

Ciclitira PJ, Johnson MW, Dewar DH, Ellis HJ. The pathogenesis of coeliac disease. *Mol Aspects Med* 2005;26:421-58.

Codex-Alimentarius- Commission. Codex Standard. Joint FAO/WHO Foods Standards Programme. Rome: WHO. 1981;118.

Codex-Alimentarius- Commission. Codex Standard. Joint FAO/WHO Foods Standards Programme. Codex Committee on Nutrition and Foods for Special Dietary Uses. Proposed Draft Revised Standards for Gluten-free foods. CX/NFSDU 98/4. July 1998:1-4. Collin P, Thorell L, Kaukinen K, Maki M. The safe threshold for gluten contamination in gluten-free products. Can trace amounts be accepted in the treatment of coeliac disease? *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2004;19:1277-83.

Devlin SM, Andrews CN, Beck PL. Celiac disease. CME update for family physicians. *Can Fam Physician* 2004;50:719-25.

Dewar DH, Amato M, Ellis HJ, Pollock EL, Gonzalez-Cinca N, Wieser H, Ciclitira PJ. The toxicity of high molecular weight glutenin subunits of wheat to patients with coeliac disease. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2006;18:483-91.

Dissanayake AS, Truelove SC, Whitehead R. Jejunal mucosal recovery in coeliac disease in relation to the degree of adherence to a gluten-free diet. *Q J Med* 1974;43:161-85.

Ellis HJ, Rosen-Bronson S, O'Reilly N, Ciclitira PJ. Measurement of gluten using a monoclonal antibody to a coeliac toxic peptide of A-gliadin. *Gut* 1998;43:190-5.

European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition. Revised criteria for diagnosis of celiac disease. Report of Working Group of European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition. *Arch Dis Child* 1990;65:909-11

Fasano A, Catassi C. Current approaches to diagnosis and treatment of celiac disease: an evolving spectrum. *Gastroenterology* 2001;120:636-51.

Ferenci DA. Celiac disease. In: *Clinical Pediatric Gastroenterology*. Altschuler SM, Liacouras CA (eds). Churchill Livingstone1998:143-50.

Ferguson A, Gillett H, Humphreys K, Kingstone K. Heterogeneity of celiac disease: clinical, pathological, immunological, and genetic. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1998;859:112-20.

Ferguson A, Gillett H, O'Mahony S. Active immunity or tolerance to foods in patients with celiac disease or inflammatory bowel disease. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1996;778:202-16.

Green PHR, Jabri B. Celiac disease. Lancet 2003;362:383-91.

Haboubi NY, Taylor S, Jones S. Coeliac disease and oats: a systematic review. *Postgrad Med J* 2006;82:672-8.

Harbour R, Miller J. A new system for grading recommendations in evidence based guidelines.*BMJ* 2001;323:334-336

Hischenhuber C, Crevel R, Jarry B, Maki M, Moneret-Vautrin DA, Romano A, Troncone R, Ward R. Review article: safe amounts of gluten for patients with wheat allergy or coeliac disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2006;23:559-75.

Holm K, Maki M, Vuolteenaho N, Mustalahti K, Ashorn M, Ruuska T, Kaukinen K. Oats in the treatment of childhood coeliac disease: a 2-year controlled trial and a long-term clinical follow-up study. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2006;23:1463-72.

Howdle PD, Ciclitira PJ, Simpson FG, Losowsky MS. Are all gliadins toxic in coeliac disease? An in vitro study of alpha, beta, gamma, and w gliadins. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 1984;19:41-7.

Johnson RB, Labrooy JT, Skerritt JH. Antibody response reveal differences in oral tolerance to wheat and maize grain protein fractions. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1990;79:135-40.

Kaukinen K, Collin P, Holm K, Rantala I, Vuolteenaho N, Reunala T, Maki M. Wheat starch-containing gluten-free flour products in the treatment of coeliac disease and dermatitis herpetiformis. A long-term follow-up study. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 1999;34:163-9.

Lohiniemi S, Maki M, Kaukinen K, Laippala P, Collin P. Gastrointestinal symptoms rating scale in coeliac disease patients on wheat starch-based gluten-free diets. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2000;35:947-9.

Montgomery AM, Goka AK, Kumar PJ, Farthing MJ, Clark ML. Low gluten diet in the treatment of adult coeliac disease: effect on jejunal morphology and serum anti-gluten antibodies. *Gut* 1988;29:1564-8.

Pena AS, Crusius JB. Food allergy, coeliac disease and chronic inflammatory bowel disease in man. *Vet Q* 1998;20:S49-52.

Peraaho M, Kaukinen K, Paasikivi K, Sievanen H, Lohiniemi S, Maki M, Collin P. Wheat-starch-based gluten-free products in the treatment of newly detected coeliac disease: prospective and randomized study. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2003;17:587-94.

Picarelli A, Triglione P, Mariani P, Di Giovambattista F, Greco M, Gurnari M et al. Use of a threshold serum level of anti-gliadin antibodies improves diagnostic efficiency of the test in adult coeliac disease but is unreliable as a screening test. *Ital J Gastroenterol* 1996;28:70-5.

Restani P, Beretta B, Ballabio C, Galli CL, Bertelli AA. Evaluation by SDS-Page and immunoblotting of residual antigenicity in gluten-treated wine: a preliminary study. *Int J Tissue React* 2002;24:45-51.

Schapira M, Maisin JM, Ghilain JM, De Maeght S, Deltenre P, Henrion J. Epidemiology of coeliac disease. *Acta Gastroenterol Belg* 2003;66:234-6.

Selby WS, Painter D, Collins A, Faulkner-Hogg KB, Loblay RH. Persistent mucosal abnormalities in coeliac disease are not related to the ingestion of trace amounts of gluten. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 1999;34:909-14.

Stern M, Ciclitira PJ, van Eckert R, Feighery C, Janssen FW, Mendez E et al. Analysis and clinical effects of gluten in coeliac disease. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2001;13:741-7.

Thompson T. Wheat starch, gliadin, and the gluten-free diet. *J Am Diet Assoc* 2001;101:1456-9.

Thompson T. Oats and the gluten-free diet. J Am Diet Assoc 2003;103:376-9.

Vader W, Kooy Y, Van Veelen P, De Ru A, Harris D, Benckhuijsen W et al. The gluten response in children with celiac disease is directed toward multiple gliadin and glutenin peptides. *Gastroenterology* 2002;122:1729-37.

Valdes I, Garcia E, Llorente M, Mendez E. Innovative approach to low-level gluten determination in foods using a novel sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay protocol. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2003;15:465-74.

van Overbeek FM, Uil-Dieterman IG, Mol IW, Kohler-Brands L, Heymans HS, Mulder CJ. The daily gluten intake in relatives of patients with coeliac disease compared with that of the general Dutch population. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 1997;9:1097-9.

West J, Logan RF, Hill PG, Lloyd A, Lewis S, Hubbard R et al. Seroprevalence, correlates, and characteristics of undetected coeliac disease in England. *Gut* 2003;52:960-5

Study ID	Methods	Participants	Diet	Outcomes	Comments
Dissanayake 1974	Cross- sectional study from England.	38 adults with CD.	Patients on strict 'gluten-free' diet, 'small amounts' of gluten, or 'large amounts' of gluten.	Jejunal mucosal histology.	Authors did not define what they meant by 'strict' or 'small' but 'large' was defined as $\geq 0.5$ g/day.
Baker 1975	Cross- sectional from England.	51 adults with CD	Patients on 'no gluten', 'small amounts of gluten' (< 2g/day) or 'large amounts of gluten' (≥2g/day)	Jejunal mucosal histology	
Ciclitira 1984	Cross-over study from England.	7 adults with CD.	One week on 'gluten- free' diet, then one week on same diet plus bread containing up to 2.4 mg gliadin/ day.	Jejunal mucosal histology	
Ciclitira 1985	Cross-over study from England.	10 adults with CD.	6 weeks on gluten-free diet and 6 weeks on same diet plus bread containing up to 2.4 mg gliadin/day.	Jejunal mucosal histology and clinical symptoms	
Montgomery 1988	Cross- sectional study from England.	25 adults with CD.	'Low gluten diet' (2.5 – 5 g per day) or 'strict 'gluten-free' diet' (amount of gluten not measured).	Jejunal mucosal histology.	
Catassi 1993	Randomised controlled trial from Italy.	20 children with CD. Age range 1.6 to 9.6 years).	Either 100 mg or 500 mg gliadin per day.	Jejunal mucosal histology.	
Chartrand 1997	Cohort study from Canada.	31 adults with CD.	Wheat starch-based diet.	Symptoms.	17 participants had never been on wheat starch-based products but 14 controls had previously tolerated these products.
Kaukinen 1999	Cross- sectional study from Finland.	41 children and adults with CD and 11 adults with dermatitis herpetiformis.	Either a wheat starch- based gluten-free diet or a naturally gluten- free diet.	Small bowel mucosal histology.	
Selby 1999	Cross- sectional study from Australia.	89 adults with CD.	Codex gluten-free diet or non-detectable gluten gluten-free diet.	Duodenal mucosal histology.	
Lohiniemi 2000	Cross- sectional study from Finland	58 adults with CD, 110 non- coeliac controls.	CD patients were on wheat starch-based 'gluten-free' diet.	Symptoms; small bowel mucosal histology.	
Peraaho 2003	Randomised controlled trial from Finland.	57 adults with CD.	Either a wheat starch- based or a naturally 'gluten-free' diet	Symptoms; duodenal mucosal histology.	
Collin 2004	Cross- sectional study from Finland.	76 adults and 16 children with CD.	Either a wheat starch- based or a naturally 'gluten-free' diet.	Small bowel mucosal histology.	

**Table 1: Characteristics of included studies**